THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James Verner, Esquire – Special Referee

Appellate Case Number: 2015-000872

St. Paul Independent Church Pomaria, Inc. Appellant,

v.

African Methodist Episcopal Church, Inc., St. Paul A.M.E. Church, Inc., Elder Joseph Postell (in his capacity as an Elder for the A.M.E. Church, Inc., Respondents,

v.

Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon, in their capacities as former Trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church Pomaria, Inc., Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephanie R. Fajardo, Bar #80159
The Fajardo Law Firm, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND THE ONLY LEGAL CONCLUSION WAS IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF.**

2. **IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THERE EXISTED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an appeal of an Order granting the Defendants summary judgment on all causes of action from James S. Verner, Esquire, Special Referee dated March 30, 2015 and filed on April 7, 2015. A copy of this Order was incorrectly mailed to counsel for the Appellant's previous address but Appellant received a copy of this Order on April 13, 2015 and timely filed a Notice of Appeal on April 14, 2015.

FACTS

On March 14, 1885, James C. Hope, conveyed the property located at 1945 Hope Station Road in Pomaria, South Carolina (hereinafter "the property") to the "Trustees of St. Paul African Methodist Episcopal Church" by general warranty deed. (Original Deed). Beginning in November 2013, members of the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. Church began to hold meetings to discuss and eventually vote on disaffiliating from the A.M.E. Church and starting a new church on the property that is the subject of this litigation. (Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 23, lns. 18-23, pg. 40, lns. 18-20). All known members of St. Paul A.M.E. Church were notified of these meetings and invited to attend and participate. (Depositions of Frederick Houseal, pg. 11, lns. 1-2, pg. 22, lns. 7-8, pg. 75, lns. 2-6, Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 33, lns. 1-3, pg. 35, lns. 9-17, Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 38, lns. 2-5). At a later meeting in November 2013,

the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. voted to disaffiliate from St. Paul A.M.E. and to transfer the property to St. Paul Independent Church. (Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 23, lns. 12-18, pg. 43, lns. 9-23, Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 45, lns. 7-25, pg. 46, lns. 1-5, pg. 49, lns. 18 – 23.) As the current trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. at the time of the congregation's vote, Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon executed a quitclaim deed for the property to be transferred to the Trustees of St. Paul Independent Church on or about December 6, 2013 (Quitclaim Deed, Id.). To date, no documents have been filed in an attempt to invalidate or rescind this deed, and no further conveyances have occurred by any person or entity. Through at least December 6, 2013, Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon continued to operate as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church, and perform their duties prescribed to them. (Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 17, lns 8-9, pg. 32 lns. 2-7, pg. 49, lns. 4-8, Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 23, lns. 12 – 25, pg. 24, lns. 1-4, pg. 64, lns. 4-17, Deposition of Thomas Flemon, pg. 53, lns. 7-20, Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 39, lns. 18-24). Following the transfer of the property, the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. attempted to officially disaffiliate from the A.M.E. Church and to begin services as St. Paul Independent Church, however, as they were blocked from worshipping at the property, it was not until January 2014 with court intervention that the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. could officially disaffiliate from the A.M.E. Church and worship as St. Paul Independent. (Deposition of Frederick Houseal, pg. 8, lns. 18-25, pg. 9, lns 1-6). Up until the Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment wherein the December 6, 2013 quitclaim deed was ordered to be stricken from the public records¹, legal title rested with the Trustees of St. Paul Independent Church.

¹ Plaintiff has filed a Motion to Enforce the Automatic Stay in this matter but as the date of this initial filing, no order has been issued by this Honorable court and Plaintiff remains unsure if the Register of Deeds has actually struck this deed from the public records.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc. (S.C.App. 2005) 365 S.C. 204, 616 S.E.2d 722. “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, all inferences from the facts in the record must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the summary judgment motion.” Tom Jenkins Realty, Inc. v. Hilton, 278 S.C. 624, 300 S.E.2d 594, 595 (1983). Under Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Id. at 545. Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000). Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts. Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. Young v. South Carolina Dep’t of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct.App.1999).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND THE ONLY LEGAL CONCLUSION WAS IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF.

The interpretation of the facts and evidence present in a light most favorable to Appellant forms one of the most important portions of Appellant's case for this summary judgment at this stage of the litigation. Unfortunately, upon a cursory reading of the Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, this portion of Appellant's argument was summarily ignored by the trial court in granting the Respondents summary judgment without examining the facts in a light most favorable to Appellant or even examining the undisputed facts of this matter which present a much different picture than the facts detailed in the Summary Judgment Order. (Order Granting Summary Judgment). In fact, many of the facts present in the Summary Judgment Order and seemingly on which the trial court based their decision find no support or basis in the record, and contradict Respondents' and Appellants' witness testimony.² Although the Appellant presented evidence through a written brief with attachments of deposition transcripts and other supporting documents, much of which contradicted the recitation of the facts in the Summary Judgment Order, none of this appears to have been taken into consideration in the court's decision to grant summary judgment to Respondents. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that "summary judgment 'should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues,'" it is axiomatic that the trial court

² Appellant would note that no oral arguments occurred on November 5, 2014 as stated in the Summary Judgment Order. Counsel for the Appellant and counsel for the Respondents were present at the office of the Special Referee to discuss scheduling of multiple motions in the case, two of which included Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Respondents's Motion for Summary Judgment. After a discussion regarding the importance of the motions for summary judgment and the issues in the case which led to the summary judgment motions, the special referee opined that he did not believe any live testimony was necessary and that these issues would likely be able to be resolved on briefs alone. Appellant does not know if the Special Referee based his decision in any part on the discussions occurring in his office on November 5, 2014 but there is no record of this conversation to Appellant's knowledge.

should take great caution in examining the facts as presented in a light most favorable to the non-moving party so that the non-moving party is given every opportunity to demonstrate the necessity of a jury hearing the disputed factual testimony. Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991) *citing* Watson v. Southern Ry. Co., 420 F.Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C.1975); *see also* Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) (“an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked”). This holding has great importance in regards to the Appellant as their lawsuit rested on the interpretation of the facts presented; most importantly, the power of the Trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. as title owners of the property in dispute to transfer that property according to South Carolina law and the determination of who was a trustee at St. Paul A.M.E. at the time of the conveyance of the disputed property. A review of the record in this matter reveals that the evidence presented to the trial court overwhelmingly supports the contention that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon remained trustees at St. Paul A.M.E. until after the execution of the quitclaim deed in this matter and, as such, had the power to transfer said property under South Carolina law. Even taking the evidence in a light most favorable to Respondents, the undisputed factual testimony present in this matter supports the grant of summary judgment to Appellant, not to the Respondents. The trial court relies on Brock v. Bennett, 313 S.C. 513, 518, 443 S.E.2d 409, 412 (S.C. App. 1994) as support for the determination that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon held no power to transfer the property at the time the quitclaim deed was executed, however the trial court fails to demonstrate how this case applies to the dispute at hand as the facts of Brock differ significantly from the facts in this matter. In Brock, it is undisputed that the Plaintiff disavowed any connection to Emmanuel Baptist Church over thirty years prior to the institution of the underlying action for possession. Brock v. Bennett, 313 S.C. 513, 515, 443 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct. App. 1994). In the

current matter, undisputed evidence of Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon continuing to perform their duties as trustees up until after the conveyance of the property was submitted to the trial court both stemming from A.M.E. church witnesses as well as Independent Church witnesses. (Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 21, lns. 24-25, pg. 22, lns 1-25, pg. 23, lns. 1-25, pg. 24, lns. 1-7; Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 17, lns. 8-10, Deposition of Tobie Pollack, pg. 52, lns. 16-21, pg. 53, lns. 11-12, Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 13, lns. 11-21, pg. 14, lns. 13-25, pg. 15, lns. 1-5, Deposition of Dorothy Houseal, pg. 43, lns. 22-24, pg. 44, lns. 6-15). In light of this evidence, the trial court had in its possession evidence distinguishing this matter from Brock but chose not to acknowledge it for unknown reasons. The trial court also cites to the Appellant's initial pleadings that detailed the vote taken and petition signed on behalf of the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. in regards to the disaffiliation from St. Paul A.M.E. purportedly in support of the decision to grant summary judgment to Respondents, but in this analysis the trial court fails to give those pleadings their proper interpretation in light of the evidence before the court. (Order Granting Summary Judgment pg. 5). While the trial court apparently uses the fact that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon participated in the vote to disaffiliate as well as signed the petition to disaffiliate as evidence of their immediate disaffiliation, there exists no evidence in the record to support the contention that upon signing the petition or participating in the vote to disaffiliate on November 14, 2013, Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon immediately vacated their duties. In contradiction, witnesses for both the Appellant and Respondents agree that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon continued as trustees at St. Paul A.M.E. well past the November 14, 2013 meeting. (Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 21, lns. 24-25, pg. 22, lns 1-25, pg. 23, lns. 1-25, pg. 24, lns. 1-7; Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 17, lns. 8-10, Deposition of Tobie Pollack, pg. 52, lns. 16-21, pg. 53, lns.

11-12, Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 13, lns. 11-21, pg. 14, lns. 13-25, pg. 15, lns. 1-5, Deposition of Dorothy Houseal, pg. 43, lns. 22-24, pg. 44, lns. 6-15). Deposition testimony of persons involved in this matter reveal that Reverend Pollack asked Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon in September 2013, before the annual conference, to continue on as trustees at St. Paul A.M.E. as elections would not be possible for several months. (Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 21, lns. 24-25, pg. 22, lns 1-25, pg. 23, lns. 1-25, pg. 24, lns. 1-7; Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 17, lns. 8-10). This is supported by not only the testimony of the three trustees, but also the testimony of the A.M.E. Church. In fact Reverend Pollack openly admits in her deposition that in the middle of November 2013, approximately two to three weeks before the conveyance, she discussed an issue she had with Lisa Houseal as a trustee and then unequivocally states that Ms. Houseal continued on as a trustee (Deposition of Tobie Pollack, pg. 52, lns. 16-21, pg. 53, lns. 11-12). Even Melvin Flemon, a current member of St. Paul A.M.E. and an outspoken advocate for the A.M.E. Church, admitted freely that Reverend Pollack nominated Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon to continue on as trustees after the annual conference in September 2013 and that this was the proper way to handle a situation where elections did not occur prior to annual conference. (Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 13, lns. 11-21, pg. 14, lns. 13-25, pg. 15, lns. 1-5). Dorothy Houseal, another outspoken advocate for the A.M.E. Church, stated that she did not consider Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon disaffiliated from St. Paul A.M.E. Church until they brought the police to the church, which was December 8, 2013. (Deposition of Dorothy Houseal, pg. 43, lns. 22-24). She goes on to admit that even after that date, they were still attending service at St. Paul A.M.E. and participating in services, which further supports the position of St. Paul Independent and the Trustees that they did not disaffiliate from the A.M.E. Church until after December 6, 2013.

(Deposition of Dorothy Houseal, pg. 44, Ins. 6-15). As this information and testimony is undisputed in the record, it is axiomatic that all parties believed and supported that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon continued to be trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. until after the transfer of property. Therefore, as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E., Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas had the requisite authority to transfer the disputed property and Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied and Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment granted.

The trial court, in addition to the allegations in the Appellant's initial pleadings regarding the trustees participating in the vote to disaffiliate and signing of the petition to disaffiliate, also calls attention to a letter dated November 15, 2013 referenced in Appellant's request for a Temporary Restraining Order and Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion for Preliminary Injunction, which details the alleged notification given to the Respondents regarding the congregation's intention to disaffiliate. (Order Granting Summary Judgment). This reliance is also misplaced as discovery revealed that not only was this November 15, 2013 letter not delivered to Respondents, but that Henry Hall, Jr., who had no authority bestowed upon him to make such statements, wrote this letter without any trustee approval and with the trustees disagreeing with the information of this letter. Deposition of Frederick Houseal, pg. 63, Ins. 24-25, pg. 64, ln. 1, Affidavit of Shirley Wise, Affidavit of Lisa Houseal, Affidavit of Thomas Flemon, Affidavit of Henry Hall, Jr.). The Appellant would also note that Reverend Pollock testified that she never received any letter from the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. regarding disaffiliation, and Elder Postell remembers receiving a petition of signatures but does not know when he received that petition. (Deposition of Tobie Pollock Vol. I, pg. 31, Ins. 13-15, Deposition of Elder Postell, pg. 79, Ins. 6-11). Elder Postell continues on in his deposition to

detail that even after receiving the petition, many of the members of St. Paul A.M.E. continued to attend church including Lisa Houseal and Thomas Flemon who Elder Postell remembers by name. (Deposition of Elder Postell, pg. 79, lns. 12-25, pg. 80, lns. 1- 16). This deposition testimony by the two alleged “leaders” of St. Paul A.M.E. demonstrates that the November 15, 2013 letter, in addition to not being official correspondence from the officers and congregation of St. Paul A.M.E., was likely never received and/or enforced by the A.M.E. Church until this litigation began and this letter became beneficial for them. Appellant supports this conclusion by drawing this Honorable Court’s attention to the fact that worship services and business at St. Paul A.M.E. continued as normal throughout November 2013, with even Elder Postell admitting that he had meetings with the congregation of St. Paul A.M.E., which would include Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon, regarding church business. (Deposition of Elder Postell, pg. 39, lns. 11-25). This information, in addition to the above detailed arguments, fully supports the contention that Lisa Houseal, Shirley Wise, and Thomas Flemon continued on as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church until after December 6, 2013, and therefore had the requisite authority to transfer the property. As such, there existed no genuine issue of material fact and summary judgment should have been granted in favor of the Appellant. Therefore the trial court’s grant of summary judgment to Respondents should be reversed and an Order granting summary judgment to Appellant filed in its place.

Along with the arguments demonstrating the power of Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon to transfer the property through their positions as trustees at St. Paul A.M.E., there exist several other arguments by Appellant in support of their motion for summary judgment that were not acknowledged by the trial court. Specifically that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon, as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E., entered into the decision to transfer

the property as a result of several meetings wherein the entire congregation of St. Paul A.M.E. was welcome to attend and participate. These meetings in November 2013 were called in the same manner meetings have been called in St. Paul A.M.E. Church for years. (Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 38, Ins. 2-5, Deposition of Shirley Wise, pg. 35, Ins. 7-17, Deposition of Frederick Houseal, pg. 12, Ins. 13-17, pg. 74, Ins. 17-25, pg. 75, Ins. 1-6, Deposition of Patricia Mayers, pg. 21, Ins. 21-25). Clearly the entire congregation was given an opportunity to attend as Ms. Patricia Mayers, Dorothy Houseal, and Melvin Flemon all admitted that they were invited to the November 2013 meetings and, even though they were staunch A.M.E. Church supporters, even attended. (Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 24, Ins. 12-16, Deposition of Dorothy Houseal, pg. 19, Ins. 2-25, Deposition of Patricia Mayers, pg. 18, Ins. 4-7). All three of these witnesses for the A.M.E. Church were also able to detail what the meeting was about, signifying their presence there and their awareness of what was going on. In fact, Melvin Flemon admitted in his deposition that other members of St. Paul A.M.E. aside from himself, Ms. Mayers, and Ms Houseal were contacted regarding the meeting as well. (Deposition of Melvin Flemon, pg. 26, Ins. 20-24). Elder Postell even entered one of these meetings! (Deposition of Lisa Houseal, pg. 39, Ins. 11-14). Through all of this involvement in the multiple meetings by A.M.E. church supporters, including Elder Postell, not one person raised the issue of the trustees not having the power to act on behalf of the congregation. Not one person attempted to stop the transfer of property by the trustees or call it invalid. Not one person voiced an opinion that Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon were no longer trustees and had disaffiliated with the vote. The lack of action on behalf of Respondents and their representatives clearly demonstrates that the trustees were acting properly and on behalf of the will of the majority of the congregation. Furthermore it defies the ludicrous position the Respondents have now taken that just because

you make a decision to leave a position or vote to disaffiliate from an organization that you automatically cease to be a part of that organization. To approve of this logic would be paramount to alleging that a person who makes a decision to quit their employment and notifies their co-workers of this decision, automatically loses all power to act in the powers of their employment, even if they remain at their job and continue to fulfill their duties. Just as the aggrieved worker may make the decision to leave their job, until they cease all ties with their employer, they are still employed with full power in their position. Likewise while Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon may have made the decision to start the disaffiliation process, they continued to perform their duties as trustees at St. Paul A.M.E. until they ceased all ties with St. Paul A.M.E. following the transfer of property as requested by the St. Paul A.M.E. congregation. As such, there existed no genuine issue of material fact and summary judgment should have been granted in favor of the Appellant. Therefore the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Respondents should be reversed and an Order granting summary judgment to Appellant filed in its place.

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