THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

James S. Verner, Esquire – Special Referee

Case No.: 2015-000872

**RECEIVED**

JUN 11 2015

SC Court of Appeals

St. Paul Independent Church Pomaria, Inc., .....Appellant,

v.

African Methodist Episcopal Church, Inc., St. Paul A.M.E. Church, Inc., Elder Joseph Postell (in his capacity as an Elder for the A.M.E. Church, Inc.), ..... Respondents,

v.

Shirley Wise, Lisa Houseal, and Thomas Flemon, in their capacities as former Trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church Pomaria, Inc., ..... Third-Party Appellants.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

Charles J. Boykin (Bar No. 65149)

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE FORMER TRUSTEES WERE DIVESTED OF ANY AUTHORITY TO TRANSFER ST. PAUL A.M.E. CHURCH PROPERTY AFTER VOTING TO DISAFFILIATE FOR THE EXPRESS PURPOSE OF UNITING WITH ST. PAUL INDEPENDENT CHURCH.<sup>1</sup>**

#### **A. Third-Party Appellants had no interest in St. Paul A.M.E. Church property to convey after they disaffiliated from St. Paul A.M.E. Church and united with St. Paul Independent Church.**

Under South Carolina law, when a church trustee voluntarily agrees to disaffiliate from one church and unite with another, he forfeits his membership in the church, his position as a trustee of the church, and any interest he has in the church's property. Brock v. Bennett, 313 S.C. 513, 443 S.E.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1994). In Brock, this Court held a former trustee of a Baptist church had no remaining interest in the church's property once he withdrew his membership and united with another church. Id. In that case, the church property was deeded to certain named individuals, including Brock, as

---

<sup>1</sup> Initially, Respondents note that Appellants have improperly appealed the trial court's denial of Appellants summary judgment motion. See Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc., 354 S.C. 161, 168, 580 S.E.2d 440, 444 (2003) (finding the denial of a summary judgment motion is not appealable, even after final judgment.); see also Fuller v. Blanchard, 358 S.C. 536, 595 S.E.2d 831, n.21 (2004) (finding to the extent appellant argued the court should have granted his cross-motion for summary judgment, his appeal of the trial judge's denial of summary judgment was improperly before the court). Because Appellants' first argument focuses solely on why their summary judgment motion should have been granted and their second argument is without merit, this appeal should be dismissed.

“trustees for Emmanuel Baptist Church, their Successors in office, Heirs and Assigns, forever.” Id. at 518, 443 S.E.2d at 412. The deed did not create a property interest in Brock; he merely held legal title for the benefit of the church congregation. Id.

After leaving the church, Brock attempted to regain possession of the church property, asserting that he retained an interest as a named trustee in the church’s deed. Id. at 518-19, 443 S.E.2d at 411-12. This Court reasoned that by abandoning his membership and uniting with another church, Brock forfeited his right to remain a trustee of the church and, in turn, forfeited his interest in the church’s property. Id.

Similar to the deed in Brock, which created no property interest in the individual trustee, in this case, the 1885 Deed conveyed title to the subject property to the “Trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church” as custodians of the property. (1885 Deed). Therefore, trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church only hold an interest in the subject property to the extent they hold it for the St. Paul A.M.E. Church congregation.

On November 14, 2013, the former trustees attended a meeting wherein they voted to disaffiliate from St. Paul A.M.E. Church for the express purpose of joining St. Paul Independent Church, thus, like Brock, they abandoned both their membership in the church and their position as trustees. (Meeting Minutes, dated November 14, 2013). The day after the meeting, on November 15, 2013, the former trustees notified the A.M.E. Church leadership of their decision to disaffiliate from St. Paul A.M.E. Church by certified letter. (Letter to Church Leadership, dated November 15, 2013). On December 6, 2013, the former trustees executed a quitclaim deed (hereinafter “Quitclaim Deed”) purportedly transferring title to the subject property from the trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church to St. Paul Independent Church.

Like the plaintiff in Brock, the former trustees voluntarily abandoned their membership in St. Paul A.M.E. Church and their positions as trustees, leaving them with no interest in the subject property after November 14, 2013. Therefore, at the time the Quitclaim Deed was executed on December 6th, the former trustees no longer held the requisite legal authority to alienate church property titled in the name of the trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church. See Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co., 370 S.C. 561, 574, 635 S.E.2d 660, 667 (Ct. App. 2006) (“A quitclaim deed . . . [conveys] only the right, title, and interest of the grantor.”).

In addition to the former trustees November 14th vote expressing a clear intent to leave St. Paul A.M.E. Church and the November 15th letter informing the A.M.E. Church of their decision to disaffiliate, the Appellants’ Memorandum in Support of Application for Preliminary Injunction included the following admission:

By certified letter on November 15, 2013 and by hand delivery on November 24, 2013, the officers and congregation of St. Paul Church informed the A.M.E. Church of the congregation’s decision to disaffiliate and that the services of any A.M.E. pastor, elder, bishop, or the like would no longer be needed.

However, the former trustees now contend that they remained members and trustees through December 6th and retained the requisite authority to transfer the subject property. The former trustees base this assertion on self-serving statements that they continued attending worship services and serving as trustees after they voted to disaffiliate. They also cite to the subjective beliefs of various other members of the St. Paul A.M.E. Church congregation that the former trustees were still members and trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church at the time of the attempted conveyance on December 6th.

However, the subjective beliefs of various individuals regarding the status and authority of the former trustees on the date they executed the Quitclaim Deed is irrelevant. The interests of the trustees diverged from St. Paul A.M.E. Church on November 14th at the time they voted to disaffiliate and unite with another church. Their separation was confirmed in writing on November 15th, leaving no question after that date that the former trustees were not acting on behalf of St. Paul A.M.E. Church. Furthermore, the former trustees assertion that they continued fulfilling their duties as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church after the November 14th vote to disaffiliate is unpersuasive; at no time did they act in the interest of St. Paul A.M.E. Church after their vote to disaffiliate. Therefore, at the time the December 6th Quitclaim Deed was executed, the former trustees lacked any legal authority to transfer title to the subject property from the trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church to St. Paul Independent Church. Thus, the attempted conveyance of the subject property by quitclaim deed is invalid and was appropriately set aside.

**B. Appellants are judicially estopped from claiming that the November 15th letter was invalid and did not express their decision to disaffiliate from St. Paul A.M.E. Church because they relied on the validity of the letter to obtain a TRO.**

Appellants are judicially estopped from asserting the November 15th letter was invalid because they relied on the letter as evidence of their disaffiliation before the trial court. “Judicial estoppel is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or related proceeding.” Cothran v. Brown, 357 S.C. 210, 215, 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004). In Cothran, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the following elements must be present to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel: (1) two inconsistent

positions have been taken by the same party or parties in privity with one another; (2) the positions must be taken in the same or related proceedings involving the same party or parties in privity with each other; (3) the party taking the position must have been successful in maintaining that position and have received some benefit; (4) the inconsistency must be part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and (5) the two positions must be totally inconsistent. Id.

In this case, before the trial court, Appellants submitted the November 15th letter as Exhibit One in support of their Motion for a TRO as evidence of their notification to the A.M.E. Church of their disaffiliation. (Pltf's Motion for TRO). They also relied on the November 15th letter in their Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Application for Preliminary Injunction filed on January 6, 2014. (Pltf's Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Preliminary Injunction, p. 2). The trial court granted Appellants' Motion for TRO on December 23, 2013.

Appellants benefited from their assertion that the November 15th letter was valid because the trial court granted the Motion for TRO. Appellants cannot now argue the wholly inconsistent position that the letter was unauthorized and that at the time of the attempted conveyance on December 6th they were still acting in the interest of St. Paul A.M.E. Church.<sup>2</sup> Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey, 327 S.C. 242, 252, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) ("When a party has formally asserted a certain version of the facts in litigation, he cannot later change those facts when the initial version no longer suits him."). Because of the factual nature of Appellants' inconsistent assertion as to the

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondents note that Appellants substituted counsel after this TRO was granted and after filing the Motion for Preliminary Injunction. However, Appellants remain bound by their former assertion. See Shelton v. Bressant, 312 S.C. 183, 184, 439 S.E.2d 833, 834 (1993) ("Acts of an attorney are directly attributed to and binding upon the client.")

validity of the November 15th letter, it is unlikely the inconsistency is incidental; instead it constitutes an intentional attempt to mislead the Court. Therefore, this Court must apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel. Quinn v. Sharon Corp., 343 S.C. 411, 415, 540 S.E.2d 474, 476 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Allow[ing Appellant] to change his position as to the facts . . . [would undermine] the truth-seeking function of the judicial process.”).

At the November 14th meeting, the former trustees forfeited their membership, to include their position as trustees of St. Paul A.M.E. Church, when they voted to disaffiliate and unite with St. Paul Independent Church. Their November 15th letter evinces this intent.

**II. APPELLANTS ARE BARRED FROM ASSERTING ON APPEAL THAT A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AFTER FILING A CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITH THE TRIAL COURT.**

When parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, they agree that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact, and summary judgment is an appropriate means of resolving the case. Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011) (“Where cross-motions for summary judgment are filed, the parties concede the issue before [the Court] should be decided as a matter of law.”); see also Alltel Commc'ns, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 399 S.C. 313, 319, 731 S.E.2d 869, 872 (2012). Before the trial court, Appellants filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that no genuine issues of material fact remain in this matter. Appellants are bound by that assertion in their appeal of the trial court's Order to this Court. See White v. Livingston, 231 S.C. 301, 306, 98 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957) (“It is well settled that one

cannot present and try his case on one theory and thereafter advocate another theory on appeal.”).

Appellants may not argue an entirely inconsistent position as to the appropriateness of summary judgment on appeal. Bramlett v. Young, 229 S.C. 519, 533, 93 S.E.2d 873, 880 (1956) (finding an appeal “must be considered in the light of the general rule that the theory pursued in the trial [c]ourt with respect ‘to the relief sought and grounds therefore’, must be adhered to in the appellate [c]ourt.”); see also Taylor v. Medenica, 324 S.C. 200, 216, 479 S.E.2d 35, 43 (1996) (an issue is not preserved if a party argues one ground for objection at trial and another ground on appeal).

In Clarendon Cnty. ex rel. Clarendon Cnty. Assessor v. TYKAT, Inc., 394 S.C. 21, 714 S.E.2d 305 (2011), the Supreme Court ruled that a party may not motion the trial court for summary judgment and later argue on appeal that genuine issues of material fact remain in the matter. In that case, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Id. at 23, 714 S.E.2d at 306. The Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) granted Clarendon County’s motion and denied TYKAT’s motion, finding there were no genuine issues of material fact. Id. at 26, 714 S.E.2d at 308, n.2. On appeal, TYKAT argued that summary judgment was prematurely granted and additional discovery was needed. Id. The Supreme Court declined to hear the argument relying on TYKAT’s previously filed cross-motion for summary judgment wherein it asserted that there were no genuine issues of material fact. Id.

As noted in TYKAT, Appellants in this matter are restricted to their assertion in their cross-motion for summary judgment before the trial court that no genuine issues of material fact exist. It follows that Appellants are also barred from arguing in the

alternative in their brief to this Court that the trial court incorrectly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents because genuine issues of material fact remain in this matter. (Appellants' Initial Brief, p. 14). Despite Appellants attempt to argue two wholly inconsistent positions, it is axiomatic that Appellants cannot argue both that additional material facts exist and do not exist; they are bound by their assertion to the trial court. White, 231 S.C. at 301, 98 S.E.2d at 534 (“When both parties act upon a particular theory of the cause of action, they will not be permitted to depart therefrom when the case is brought up for appellate review.”).

**III. BECAUSE APPELLANTS FAILED TO FILE A 59(E) MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT, APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT CONCERNING THE INSUFFICIENCY OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.**

“It is proper to view a Rule 59(e) motion not only as a vehicle to request the trial court ‘alter or amend the judgment’; . . . a motion under Rule 59(e) long has been viewed as ‘motion for reconsideration’” Elam v. S. Carolina Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004); see also Rule 59(e), SCRPC.

Appellants argue that the trial court erred in granting “blanket summary judgment” in not addressing the causes of action against the former trustees. However, because Appellants failed to file a 59(e) motion to request the trial court rule on this issue, it is not preserved for appellate review. See Rule 59(e), SCRPC; see also Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled